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>>Committee commenced at 13:42

Chairman (Mr. Tootoo): Welcome,
everybody. | think before we get started,
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you may want to stick this on and listen
because sometimes it’s hard to hear what
people are saying. When you’re just
talking, they can pick it up better through
the headset.

Before we get started, | would like to ask
Mr. Curley if he could start us off with a
prayer, please.

>>Prayer

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Item 2
on your Agenda for our Standing
Committee on Government Operations and
Accountability meeting here today is the
review and the adoption of the agenda. Do
members agree with the agenda?

Some Members: Agreed.

Chairman: Item 3 is my opening
comments, but before 1 get into that, | just
want to state a couple of housekeeping
things. As | indicated earlier, it’s a little bit
hard sometimes to hear what people are
saying if you’re just trying to listen. So
please use the headsets, and for the ones
that aren’t at the table, there are headsets
available in the back as well.

This Channel 1 is the floor language,
Channel 2 is English, and Channel 3 is
Inuktitut, and it will have this nice little
round dial in front of you to switch it to
whatever channel you prefer.

They will be transcribing the hearings; they
are being televised locally, and as a result
of that, for the transcribing purposes, |
would just please ask that you go through
the Chair when you’re finished, saying,
you know, “Thank you, Mr. Chairman,”
not just because | want you to say thank
you to me but just so that they know when
the break is and when it switches to
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somebody else, and also the fact that the
transcripts from these hearings will be
posted on our website once they’re
completed.

Again, I will start off with a good afternoon
and thank you for coming. | would like to
welcome everyone to this meeting of the
Legislative Assembly’s Standing
Committee on Government Operations and
Accountability. We are here today to begin
the Standing Committee’s hearings on the
2007 Report of the Auditor General of
Canada to the Legislative Assembly of
Nunavut on the activities of the Nunavut
Business Credit Corporation.

This is Ms. Fraser’s sixth appearance
before a Standing Committee of the
Legislative Assembly of Nunavut, and we
are very pleased that she has again been
able to travel here to Iqgaluit in order to
appear before the Committee before us
today in person. | would like to note for the
public record the Committee’s sincere
appreciation for her commitment to the
North, which has also benefited her
reporting responsibilities to the Parliament
of Canada on issues of importance to our
region of the nation.

Under the Nunavut Act, the Auditor
General of Canada is responsible for
auditing the Government of Nunavut’s
financial transactions and financial
statements. The Auditor General also
audits the financial statements of the
federal government, as well as those of the
Northwest Territories and the Yukon. The
Auditor General prepares reports to the
Legislative Assembly in which
management issues that arise during the
course of an audit are brought to the
attention of Nunavut’s MLAs. These
reports are tabled in the House and made
available to the public. The Government of
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Nunavut’s management responses to the
Auditor General’s recommendations are
included in the report itself.

The terms of reference for the Standing
Committee on Government Operations and
Accountability mandate us to review
Nunavut’s Public Accounts and the reports
of the Auditor General.

In Nunavut, one of the most important
responsibilities of Standing Committees
such as ours is to contribute to the
transparency and accountability of
government through our review and
scrutiny of its actions and spending.

Since 1999, Standing Committee hearings
and reports have highlighted a number of
areas of concern with respect to how the
government is managing taxpayers’ dollars
and how effectively and efficiently it is
delivering programs and services to
Nunavummiut.

Public hearings such as today’s contribute
to the strength and integrity of our system
as a whole. They provide the opportunity
for issues and questions to be raised in a
public forum. They provide the opportunity
for the government to publicly account for
its performance. Following the
Committee’s review of the Auditor
General’s reports, we present our own
findings and recommendations to the
Legislative Assembly. The government is
required under the Rules of the Legislative
Assembly to publicly table its response to
our recommendations.

In June of this year, the Standing
Committee held public hearings on the
Auditor General’s report on the
Government of Nunavut’s Financial
Assistance for Nunavut Students Program.
This was the first stand-alone report to our
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Legislative Assembly from the Office of
the Auditor General that provided a
performance audit on a specific GN
program. The Standing Committee was
pleased to have had the opportunity to
scrutinize in detail the Auditor General’s
findings and recommendations concerning
this important program. The Committee
presented its own report on these hearings
to the House earlier this month.

On November 5, the Auditor General’s
Report on the Nunavut Business Credit
Corporation was tabled in the House and
referred to this Standing Committee for
review. The findings of the Auditor
General are extremely disturbing. Her
office’s denial of opinion on the financial
statements of the Nunavut Business Credit
Corporation is virtually unprecedented.

Subsequent to the tabling of the Auditor
General’s Report on the Nunavut Business
Credit Corporation, the Government of
Nunavut announced a number of measures
to address the situation. Important
questions concerning these measures were
raised in the House by Members of the
Standing Committee during the most recent
sitting of the Legislative Assembly. This
week’s hearings will provide the
opportunity for Members of the Standing
Committee to scrutinize in detail the status
of the government’s plans in this area.

The Standing Committee is gravely
disappointed at the failure of the
government to take decisive action at an
earlier time. Past reports of the Auditor
General to the Legislative Assembly
clearly revealed serious problems with the
Nunavut Business Credit Corporation and
provided warnings with respect to the risks
of error and fraud associated with
weaknesses in the GN’s overall financial
management system.
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In both June of 2004 and April of 2006,
this Standing Committee held public
hearings, questioned witnesses and tabled
its own reports and recommendations.
Despite this, it is apparent that the
problems at the Nunavut Business Credit
Corporation were allowed to worsen until it
was too late.

Over the past several years, this Standing
Committee has consistently called on the
government to enhance the transparency
and accountability of its operations and
spending. Since 1999, a number of
important improvements have been
achieved. These include the tabling of
departmental and Crown agency business
plans; the inclusion of information in the
GN’s main estimates concerning prior
years’ actual expenditures; the tabling of
annual reports on the Government of
Nunavut’s contracting and leasing
activities; the tabling of Ministerial letters
of expectation to Crown agencies and the
responses of the agencies; and the tabling
of annual reports on the government’s
grants and contributions expenditures.

In some cases, these documents are tabled
in a timely manner, and in other cases, they
are not. For example, the government has
not tabled an annual report on its grants
and contributions expenditures since June
of 2006, when the report for the 2004-05
fiscal year was made available to MLAS
and the public.

However, there has been too little
transparency at the Nunavut Business
Credit Corporation. Although the most
recent Ministerial letter of expectation to
the Nunavut Business Credit Corporation
echoed the Standing Committee’s call for
greater disclosure of which individuals and
companies receive public funds in the form
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of loans, this information has not been
made available to the public. By contrast,
the annual reports of the NWT’s new
Business Development and Investment
Corporation publicly disclose detailed
information that identifies the individuals
and companies that receive public funds. I
would note that recent Ministerial
correspondence on this issue includes a
commitment to provide this information to
the Standing Committee. | also note that
we received that information just before
lunch today at the eleventh and a half hour.

I am pleased to take this opportunity to
announce that the Minister of Economic
Development and Transportation has
accepted the Standing Committee’s
invitation to appear before us on Thursday
afternoon of this week. Although it is
unusual for a Minister to appear before a
Standing Committee that is examining an
auditor’s report, it is not without precedent.
Members of the Standing Committee look
forward to a serious and productive
exchange with the Minister on a number of
issues.

In light of the Auditor General’s denial of
opinion on the financial statements of the
Nunavut Business Credit Corporation and
the serious observations contained in her
report, the Standing Committee is of the
view that a full public accounting of past
decisions and actions taken by Nunavut
Business Credit Corporation and
Government Nunavut officials is required.

To this end, the Standing Committee will
be seeking to hear the testimony of former
office-holders associated with the Nunavut
Business Credit Corporation. These include
the former Chairperson of the corporation’s
Board of Directors, former senior
employees of the corporation and the
former Deputy Minister of Economic
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Development and Transportation, who will
be appearing here on Thursday morning.

It is the Standing Committee’s firm view
that these former office-holders have
pertinent testimony to provide in relation to
the Committee’s examination of this
matter. The Standing Committee sincerely
hopes that learning from the mistakes of
the past will help to ensure that they are not
repeated in the future.

Committees of the Parliament of Canada
and our nation’s provincial and territorial
legislatures have broad powers to compel
the attendance and evidence of witnesses
and the production of documents. Although
the Standing Committee is hopeful that
former office-holders will willingly appear
before the Standing Committee to provide
sworn testimony, we will not hesitate to
explore our legal options to compel their
attendance, if necessary. Given that a
number of former office-holders no longer
reside in Nunavut, the Committee may be
required to continue its hearings in the New
Year in order to provide adequate time to
arrange for the attendance of these
individuals.

Before closing, | would like to take a
moment to review the agenda for the
remainder of today. After the conclusion of
my opening comments, Ms. Fraser will
make her opening statement to the
Standing Committee. Following Ms.
Fraser’s remarks, Deputy Minister
Keenainak, who is the lead Government of
Nunavut witness, will be invited to make a
statement on behalf of the government.
After a brief recess, the Committee will
then reconvene and members will have the
opportunity to pose general questions and
comments. We will then proceed to the
detailed review of the Auditor General’s
Report to the Legislative Assembly.
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With that, again, I would like to welcome
the Auditor General of Canada to our
hearings, Ms. Fraser, it’s always a pleasure
to have you here, and invite you if you
have any opening comments to please go
ahead. Thank you. Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It
is a pleasure for us to be here today and
particularly an honour for us to attend this
hearing in the Legislative Assembly. We
thank you for this opportunity to present
the results of our audit of the Nunavut
Business Credit Corporation.

I am accompanied today by Andrew
Lennox, Assistant Auditor General, Julie
Charron, the Principal responsible for this
audit, and Beth Stewart from our Legal
Services.

We decided to carry out this audit after
denying an opinion on the corporation’s
financial statements for the year ended
March 31, 2006.

An auditor’s opinion is denied when, for
example, an organization’s books of
account are so poorly kept that

o transactions throughout the
Corporation are missing, or

o existing transactions have not been
recorded appropriately to reflect the
organization’s operations for the
year.

Denying an opinion on financial statements
IS a very serious matter, and as you have
mentioned, it is a very rare occurrence.

To better understand the underlying causes
of this situation, we examined the
management and financial controls that the
Corporation had in place to operate and
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manage its business. Our examination
included

o the Corporation’s loan approval
process,

o jts documentation of transactions
and decisions, and

@ its management and monitoring of
the loans in its portfolio.

We also looked at the Board of Directors’
responsibilities for overseeing the
operations of the Corporation.

I must say at the outset, as the auditor of
the Nunavut Business Credit Corporation, |
am bound by rules of professional conduct
and privacy legislation, under which I’'m
obliged to keep client information
confidential. Therefore, should you require
details of specific loans, or specific
transactions, | would ask that you direct
your questions to Corporation officials.

Overall, we observed a serious breakdown
at the corporation of basic financial
controls—such as

@ approving transactions,

o authorizing payments, and

s confirming its funds are used for
the approved purposes.

As a Crown corporation, the Nunavut
Business Credit Corporation must follow
the Nunavut Business Credit Corporation
Act and regulations and the relevant
sections of the Financial Administration
Act. However, we found that terms and
conditions of loans were changed without
receiving proper authority, and these
changes were not reflected in the loan files.
As we noted in our report, we observed
numerous other Corporation transactions
that contravened the laws and regulations
that it is subject to.

o Pd] LMHeCTIC ID®DIIPNo®,
s NNG®CP>bCio*NC
AFLcPPNNYDSHECTDC, >
s > CPo™Me 4D%I<4PN
a DN ALCPD7 I NSHCCeCH .

SPrSPa.c DSTYUC bNLAE ALPRCA /L™ e
I>CENR>N=HNE Ceda™L dI>ANS YT,

QL CHLSeLSe/DeND>< 5%, DSbn<sbseI*L
Cbdd 0a. 2 AZoPb®IC JI®DIA\C
LcLSbP>SLC ASdYSebde <L > Cedo™L
IDN.<b%® oNe b*Ja ®INNYA b 5NV >
ANNSAPY T 0, Cedd JAPINNLDeb>N5NC
AFLDPNNy A 5b®CDC CAbI

NPCD>c DI NePCPL A b G <L LE.

<AL 5 Pabbe
> CB PN DS A <15 D>®IC—AS 5

o PabbC AMSGALMNC

o Q¥ CD>HCCSTNC, <>

o @ A®CPbBECST N Pa L PAOC
<DSo<sLLe.

LRLed* 0 NdNPYD>“Ho o0a 2

Ao P5b®D 0 DI\ L bCndc™®
0a 2 No/b®IC JD®IIG\C

A<+ Lo AL Lcbo® <L Pabbe
I>c . CPo*C NDYN<IC ADc™C
CALAPb H<®NHd CLedd QP p°CD>YNAGC
LEPCD>IL N oNe Lo ID®DE\E
Ded®eCP>YL{ ot AYnseCP>o™ N

QO A®CHAL™MoNe. M *g®

>7arc PeDd Do®Io /SdMCN<o® Lclo®
LctCPYn<b™®Iato.

10




In addition, data had been erased from the
corporation’s network, and the data backup
systems failed to operate. Given these
circumstances, the corporation does not
have assurance of the completeness of the
record of events.

Finally, we found that the Board of
Directors did not carry out its
responsibilities to oversee the
Corporation’s operations and, thereby,
helped to ensure the protection of public
funds.

As you know, we made numerous
recommendations in our report on the
Nunavut Business Credit Corporation.
However, given the circumstances, the
Government and the Legislative Assembly
may wish to reassess the desirability of
continuing to deliver these programs
through a separate corporate structure.
Having the programs operate as part of a
larger organization might enable the
Corporation to draw upon other resources
and expertise needed to implement our
recommendations in a timely manner.

It is important that the Corporation
understand the nature and the seriousness
of the weaknesses we found. It is also
important that there be an action plan in
place that will lead to the proper
management of these activities. In addition,
given that the situation remained the same
for most of the 2006-07 fiscal year, |
should inform you that we expect to issue
another denial of opinion on the financial
statements for the year ended March 31,
2007,

Looking forward, efforts need to be made
to ensure that the corporation maintains
proper books of accounts for the March 31,
2008 financial statements.
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In its response, the Government agreed
with all of our recommendations. The
Corporation, along with the Departments of
Finance and Economic Development and
Transportation, is preparing an action plan
that will set out the steps to be taken to
address our concerns. This action plan
should clearly set out how the government
and the corporation will implement and
regularly follow up on the
recommendations made by my office.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes our opening
statement. We would be pleased to answer
any questions that members may have.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. At this
time | would like to ask the lead witness for
the Government of Nunavut, Ms.
Keenainak, if she has any opening
comments. Go ahead, Ms. Keenainak.

Ms. Keenainak (interpretation): Thank
you, Mr. Chairman. | am pleased to be here
today to represent the Department of
Economic Development and
Transportation, which as you know is
responsible for the administration of the
Nunavut Business Credit Corporation Act.

(interpretation ends) With me today is
Acting Chief Executive Officer for the
Nunavut Business Credit Corporation,
Allan McDowell. Allan has also served as
the Corporation’s comptroller since May
2006. Also present today is a member of
my senior staff at the department, Ed
McKenna, as well as Peter Ma, the Deputy
Minister for Finance as well as the Interim
Chair for the Nunavut Business Credit
Corporation, as well as Alex Buchan, who
is also the vice-chair for the Corporation, as
well as Chris D’ Arcy, who is the Acting
Assistant Deputy Minister for Finance, and
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Gerry O’Donnell, who is from the
Department of Finance as well, who is the
Comptroller General.

I have served as the Deputy Minister for
Economic Development and Transportation
since May of this year. Before this time, |
was also the Assistant Deputy Minister in
the Department of Finance, and | also
served as the Assistant Deputy Minister
responsible for economic development in
the Department of Economic Development
and Transportation/Sustainable
Development. | appeared before this
Committee in June 2004 in that capacity to
answer your questions about the Nunavut
Business Credit Corporation.

I want to begin by repeating what has been
stated in the government’s general response
published in a report of the Auditor
General: We are in agreement with the
report and its recommendations.

I recognize how serious it is that the
Auditor General was forced to issue a
denial of opinion on the Corporation’s
financial statements for the year ending
March 31, 2006.

I accept the Auditor General’s statement
that this is “a serious problem for the
Corporation.” | recognize that correcting
the situation will be an enormous
challenge.

At the same time, | welcome the Auditor
General’s decision to conduct a
performance audit of the activities of the
corporation, to explain the denial of
opinion.

The examination of management, financial
controls and governance at the Nunavut
Business Credit Corporation has
highlighted numerous problems, and | am
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thankful to the Auditor General and her
staff for providing a clear statement of
these problems, and for the series of
recommendations made in her report that
will guide us in making the changes we
need to set things right.

I also want to acknowledge that while the
full extent of the problems described in her
report was new to me, with few exceptions
these issues have been known to the
Auditor General and to the department for
some time, and they were known to the
previous management of the Corporation.

In reviewing the departmental files since
the release of the report, | have read the
instructions to the senior management at
the Nunavut Business Credit Corporation
that date back several years, which, if they
had been followed, I think would have
greatly reduced the challenges we must
overcome within the Corporation today.

In making this comment | am not trying to
explain away the problems at the
Corporation by “pointing the finger” at
individuals. It is now our task to take the
necessary actions to meet these challenges,
and | lead this effort with a strong sense of
humility, knowing that many before me
have worked on these issues. And | know
that while we can learn a great deal by
looking back at the mistakes made in the
past, our focus now must be on ensuring
we are taking the necessary and appropriate
steps to correct the situation, and to move
forward.

For more than a year now we have been
working with the staff at the Corporation to
make improvements to their operations,
prompted by the observations made by the
Auditor General and her staff as they
audited the books of account for 2005-06,
and then initiated this special audit.
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Following the release of the Auditor
General’s Report earlier this month, my
focus has been on the preparation of an
action plan that responds to the
recommendations and observations in this
report, and take full responsibility for the
implementation of the changes needed to
resolve these problems.

To achieve these objectives and avoid past
mistakes, we are going to have to change
the way the NBCC operates, both at the
staff and board levels. We are going to
have to make changes within my
department as well to ensure that we are
able to provide the strict oversight and the
support the Corporation needs.

Today | am providing you with a summary
of our action plan, but this is not the final
draft. Over the next several weeks we will
be adding to and refining this plan as we
continue our research to find the best way
to meet these challenges. We will continue
to add to our plan as we rely on advice
from the Office of the Auditor General,
from within the government in the
Departments of Finance and Justice, from
our colleagues in the Government of the
Northwest Territories, from other business-
lending agencies in Nunavut, from the
business community, and the public.

I know, too, that this Committee will have
recommendations for the department
following your meetings this week, and |
look forward to incorporating in our plan
your advice and the actions we need to take
to respond to your recommendations.

I want to give Members of this Committee
and all Nunavummiut confidence that we
are acting to protect the public interest, and
to restore an important government
program designed to stimulate economic
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development and employment in Nunavut
by supporting viable business
opportunities.

Mr. Chairman, | welcome your questions
and those from Members of this
Committee. | will make every effort to
respond as completely as | can and to
provide the information you need. Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Keenainak.
Before we go to the break and before we
get into general questions, | would like to
just ask the Committee Members if they
have any general comments, or opening
comments that they’d like to make.

Also, before | go to any of them, | have
been a rude host and not introducing people
that are sitting around the table here with
me. I’ll start off from my far right. We
have Ms. Sue Cooper, she is our Law Clerk
for the Legislative Assembly, and sitting
next to her is Mr. Levi Barnabas, who is a
Member of the Standing Committee. To
my immediate right here is Nancy Tupik;
she is the Clerk of our Committee. To my
left is Mr. Alex Baldwin, he is the
Research person assigned to this
Committee. Sitting next to him is Mr. Keith
Peterson, who is a Committee Member
from Cambridge Bay. On the far left is Mr.
Tagak Curley; he is also a Member of the
Standing Committee representing Rankin
Inlet.

With that, if any members wish to have any
opening comments that they would like to
make. Mr. Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
would like to welcome the Auditor General
and the Government of Nunavut officials to
our inquiry this week. It’s been a long and
anticipated wait for you folks to be here.
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Our Standing Committee has a lot of
questions to try to get to the bottom of what
happened as disclosed in your report.

Just before I make some general comments,
Mr. Chairman, | would like to make some
disclosures in the interest of transparency. |
was on the Northwest Territories Business
Credit Corporation for five years prior to
Nunavut being created. | actually started
off as a board member and then | was
chairperson for a couple of years. So |
come with that background and I know the
preparation that went into preparing for
division in terms of setting up the Nunavut
Business Credit Corporation.

I also would like to disclose that we’ve got
a list of the active loans for Nunavut just
before lunch. So I will disclose that my
brother is the owner of Inuksuk Enterprises
in Cambridge Bay, and although I have no
interest in his business, he is my brother,
his loan was approved in the Northwest
Territories in the early 90s, so | would just
like to disclose that.

I would like to disclose also that when the
Nunavut Business Credit Corporation was
initially established, I, along with a couple
former, or current members | guess, or
former members, | guess, depending on
resignations, came over with the initial
setup. We were appointed | think in
November 1999 but we didn’t actually get
up and operating until some time in mid-
2000. But I resigned somewhere around
mid-2001 for a number of reasons, main
reason is because | had a lot on my plate. |
was elected as Mayor of Cambridge Bay,
so | just found I couldn’t be as involved in
the NBCC as | had wished to.

With those disclosures, Mr. Chairman, |
would like to do my opening comments.
The report was shocking to me literally; |
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wasn’t expecting anything like what I read.
It says coming from the NWT Business
Credit Corporation, we had a very well set
up, an efficient and effective operating
system over there. We spent a long time
setting up policy and guidelines, and
procedures; we had some very good staff;
we met regularly in person and in
teleconferences. So the board members
were very well briefed on all aspects of the
lending function, and the credit and
collections functions.

So when | read your report, it’s like all the
good work that had gone into getting ready
for Nunavut had been thrown out. I'm at a
loss to explain how it could have happened
because we had those procedures, policy

and guidelines we had implemented and

followed with some adjustments over time.

I think we would have had a very good
operation of the Nunavut Business Credit
Corporation. Of course, there would always
be turnovers and transfers in employees, so
that might have been a factor, but then
again, there’s always training that could
have went into helping those folks.

As | said, it was an eye-opener; it gives all
of us a black eye, maybe two black eyes
and a couple of broken teeth, that’s how
serious | would say this report is. It’s very
troubling to me that public monies were not
disbursed or monitored with greater
scrutiny by the staff at NBCC as identified
in the Auditor General’s Report.

I think I saw a list earlier; there were five
or six acting CEOs of the Business Credit
Corporation since inception, so that was
probably harmful to the overall operation
of the Business Credit Corporation.

The public and MLAs place a lot of faith
and confidence in our Crown agencies, and
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as most folks would probably be aware by
now, we grill the ministers quite regularly
about the Crown Agency Council. They
have a process where Ministers and Deputy
Ministers will oversee Crown agencies and
issue them letters of expectation on a
regular basis with how they’re supposed
operate.

So to read your report and put in a
perspective of this, it appears that the
officials of the Nunavut Business Credit
Corporation were completely ignoring their
letters of expectation that came from the
Crown Agency Council. So that’s a serious
matter that we have to deal with.

The report also undermines the faith and
confidence that we have in, | guess, all our
Crown agencies across Nunavut. | would
like to think that they’re all up and running
efficiently and affectively, but when you
see a report like this, you have to question
whether all of them are up and running.

The public has placed a lot of confidence in
their MLAs to ensure that the Crown
agencies are being run effectively and
efficiently, and | don’t think that there’s an
adequate excuse after seven or eight years
since Nunavut was created to be able to say
that we’re still starting off and we’re
struggling. You could say that in the first
two to three years, but after seven or eight
years, we’re at this juncture.

And, it’s particularly disconcerting when
you recognize that the Auditor General has
made previous recommendations on the
Nunavut Business Credit Corporation that
our Standing Committee addressed. So
we’ve made recommendations to the
Government of Nunavut to improve. |
believe that if those recommendations had
been taken seriously and implemented to
some degree that the Nunavut Business
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Credit Corporation would be in less of a
problem now than it should be.

The really disturbing thing for me, as a
former person that’s been involved in
business in the Kitikmeot, I believe in
advocating in the House here that the
Kitikmeot is going to be the economic
engine of Nunavut in the years to come, it’s
disturbing to me that a Crown agency like
the Nunavut Business Credit Corporation
that can assist small or medium sized
businesses to access and get financing to
meet their growth needs to get them up and
running in the early years of their
development to the point where they can
pursue commercial lending sources,
commercial banks like the Business
Development Bank of Canada, to take that
the Nunavut Business Credit Corporation
has failed in that regard is very hard to
accept for me.

We need the Nunavut Business Credit
Corporation running, we need the
Community Futures Organizations that
they support in each region to be up and
running properly, and | don’t know how
seriously all of this is going to set the
Nunavut Business Credit Corporation back.

| see the Government of Nunavut has given
us an action plan and | had a quick scan
through it. It’s an interesting document but
it will have to be taken seriously. There has
to be a greater effort made by the
Government of Nunavut in recognition that
you can’t sit back and ignore the problems
that exist with the Nunavut Business Credit
Corporation.

So, Mr. Chairman, with that, | look forward
to the next few days of questions to
Government officials, the Auditor
General’s scrutiny of the report, and then |
guess our summary. We’ll make some
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recommendations and hope that our
recommendations this time will be taken
seriously as we’re all concerned individuals
and officials in the Government of
Nunavut. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. I’'m
sure you’re not alone in that thought. Mr.
Barnabas.

Mr. Barnabas (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. | want to welcome Sheila
and her officials coming to Nunavut. | wish
to declare, in the interest of transparency,
that I own a 10 percent interest in

which currently has an active loan from the
Nunavut Business Credit Corporation.

Mr. Chairman, | feel the same way as Mr.
Peterson. | wish to say what he just stated
to you that coming from the Northwest
Territories Government, we had to transfer
a lot of our programs.

We had been asking many questions
concerning the Nunavut Business Credit
Corporation and its progress because they
have misused funds that were supposed to
be used for the businesses in the
communities. When it is in this state, this is
the first that we have met with you
officially, and a lot of the things that we
saw have to be rectified and corrected.

With the recommendations that we made to
the NBCC, they had misused the funds in
the past, and the monies have diminished.
Even though the Auditor General did her
work, she could not find any of the funding
in her findings of the audits, and again, we
see that it’s still the same today.

For this reason, we want to go forward and
establish ourselves properly in Nunavut.
We get very little money for the Nunavut
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Government, so we need to have good
stewardship of our finances. This would be
an awful statement to the federal
government if we continue to work this
way.

I will be asking many questions during this
process. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Barnabas. Mr.
Curley, comments?

Mr. Curley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
(interpretation) | want to welcome Madam
Fraser and her officials and thank them for
being able to come to Nunavut. First of all,
I would like to welcome the Deputy
Minister of Nunavut, Rosemary Keenainak,
Peter Ma, (interpretation ends) and all of
the officials, welcome to the Committee.

Very briefly, I want to just comment that |
cannot help but think about the days that
we used to deal with some of the problems
when | used to be the minister in the
territorial Government of NWT, where |
was also responsible for overseeing the
number of loan funds.

We then had, at that time, in the 1980s, two
different loan programs, one was for
general public, non-Inuit/non-native, which
is NBCC practically, and then there was
also an Eskimo Loan Fund, which was
particularly geared to the aboriginals. It
would’ve been on for perpetuity for these
people but since recently, they’re all being
incorporated into one thing. So we’re
probably not getting as much of the Ottawa
federal funds in view of the fact that they
disappeared, whether they are specific to
aboriginal loan programs or not. So that’s
just an opening statement.

I, too, was, to say the least, shocked with
the denial of the opinion of the 2006 audit,
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but more so, | think that we have to remind
the Government of Nunavut that not only
should you agree with the
recommendations here and there, and be
willing to consider this and that that you
have since 2004. | think, clearly, the
opening comments made by the Deputy
Minister of Economic Development did
state that they will act.

I want to encourage you that you must
accept all of the responsibility for the
failure of this, what I call a wounded dog.
I’m not going to go on beating it any
further, I think we have to give it time to
heal and move on. During the last three
years, | have not seen the minister take full
hands-on responsibility for problems that
were clearly laid out since 2004.

I cannot help to remind also members, not
only on this side, that I think the whole
loan system and grant program is so
complicated. The accounting teams, no
doubt, look at the sites at Cape Dorset and
here, and so on, but people who are
actually supposed to properly tie this all up
and look at all of the dots, whether
securities that are in place are properly
reviewed and considered, are out in the
field, out in 26 communities.

Unlike the NWT days, we used to have
economic development officers who were
very well trained in many respects because
they were graduates of commerce or
whatnot, or business administration. | was
proud to have this guy as one of the field
representatives. So he was quite used to
analyzing business proposals and plans,
and actually recommended which type of
program that they were applying for.

Right now, and I believe these days are
very difficult, whether or not the proponent
IS going to be accepted for loans, or borrow
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any funds at all. It wasn’t one signature
needed. Nowadays, | think it’s peanuts to
go and borrow $1 million from this
government. | think it’s simple when you
look at the sheet that was passed around to
us today, now, only this $1 million loan,
the minister just has to sign that one. That
is probably a little easier than the $500,000
or less loan, which are much more
complicated because the proponents have
to go through, I hope, rigorous standards.

I’m just saying that because the problems
that were exposed by the Auditor General
and her team in 2004 would have been, in
my opinion, enough justification that there
were problems and the minister would have
had hands-on to enquire and see what
exactly is in place and move on and
recommend management changes if need
be.

The reason | say that is part of the problem
that we see, and | think my colleague was
very articulate about it this morning during
the in camera review, that we now have
economic development officers throughout
the communities that have no experience
whatsoever about business development, or
have not been engaged in business. They
are the ones that, most of the time, use the
phone, instead of the documentation and
say, “Where is the loan application?
What’s happening with it?” So we will find
out exactly where it all started to crumble
and eventually fall down.

I don’t want to go too long, but I just
wanted to state that the GN, my advice to
you would be that you go back to the basics
and use experience as one of the key
essential requirements of individuals who
are working for NBCC, because we’re not
sure from this side, some of the Regular
Members, whether or not people engaged
in the loan processing and reviewing loans
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have really any major experience, or basic
experience in lending institutions. This is a
financial institution; it’s not running a
company or business.

So in spite of the pressure from higher up,
if that be the case, that experience is
essential, absolutely, getting a $1 million
loan is a scary commitment, or half a
million to say the least. So | would urge the
government to really not just agree to the
recommendation but to actually put very
solid teams to these institutions so we don’t
have to go back every year to try and find
out what exactly went wrong.

I look forward to asking direct questions to
both parties, to the government, as well as
the members of the audit team of Madam
Fraser.

I think 1 will leave it here but, Mr.
Chairman, I was really quite confused
when the minister was not at all too sure of
exactly when they got the report and heard
about the problems associated with this
institution. I think it was clear for a long
time, at least three or four years, that there
had been major difficulties.

And, someone, not just the bureaucrats,
actually have to get their hands on this
thing and lay out roles and responsibilities
so that they are clear and they are not
competing with each other. | believe that
the report that we got today will clearly
help us to know exactly whose role it is to
verify certain requirements and so on, and
from the government side as well.
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Just
before we go to a break, I just want to add
in, too, as | said in my opening comments
earlier as the Chair, that we are gravely
disappointed at the failure of the
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government to take decisive action.

I think when you look at some of these
issues that I pointed out and Ms. Fraser
pointed out in her comments, have been
raised for years and | find that these
hearings on the Auditor General’s reports,
almost every recommendation and
government response in there, that the
government agrees. They have agreed in
the past, they have agreed to take action,
and yet, here we are today looking at this.

I think the credibility and the confidence of
the organization and the government as a
whole, as the government response in
there, has been eroded, and we’ll be
looking for not just, again, in here we see
the government agrees, we have an action
plan and said we are going to do these
things, and it doesn’t get done.

I’m not pointing the fingers at any one
individual but I think collectively, and
when we look at the comment | made of
the failure of the government, as a whole,
to respond to this over the last number of
years. To me, it’s seemingly, like in the
past, it seems like it’s all just been lip
service. We have to find a way to turn that
lip service into actual walking and running,
or crawling, and getting things done,
changed, and fixed.

The simple fact the way the government,
you know we talked about openness and
transparency, and providing information.
We had to put pressure on at 11:30 this
morning to get a copy of the list of the
loans and to find out who has the loans. In
the auditor’s report it says there are 62
loans and they had this list for quite some
time.

Why, again, like governments like to do
press releases at late Friday afternoons so it
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kind of deflects stuff until the following
week, again here we get this information
right at the last minute. To me, and I’'m
sure to a lot of people out there, they see
this stuff, they think, “Oh yeah, here they
go again.” Why are they waiting until the
last minute to do things like that?

Again, | don’t blame anyone here for that,
that’s the government as a whole decision
to act like that. To me, I think that that type
of behaviour contradicts what the
government is saying, “We want to be
open, we want to be accountable, we want
to be transparent,” and yet they seemingly
stall things from getting out there.

I know it’s frustrating from my point of
view, and I’m sure for all the Committee
members, and | assume it could be just as
frustrating for everyone involved. That’s
something that | would like to see change
in the attitude of the government of being
open and transparent, and not being afraid
to put information out there at the last
minute.

There are some things in here that are
identified in the report of the list of loans,
we’re not going to have a chance to look at
it and figure that stuff out now because we
just got it just before lunch. It’s clearly
something that they’ve had since the audit.

I just want to make that point because I’m a
little disappointed in the type of behaviour
and action by the government. We like to
say that we’re open and transparent and
that, but it just seems to contradict that. |
want to make that very clear that | for one
don’t agree with that and I’m sure the
Committee Members are getting tired of it
as well.

So maybe with that, we’ll take a short 15-
minute break and we’ll reconvene in 15
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minutes. Thank you.

>>Committee recessed at 14:35 and
resumed at 15:14

Chairman: Thank you and welcome back.
We will get into general comments and
questions now. Before | open the floor to
my colleagues, |1 would like to take the
opportunity to ask Ms. Fraser the first
question.

The Government of Nunavut’s 2004-05
public accounts were not tabled until
March 2007 and the GN’s Interim
Financial Report for the 2005-06 fiscal year
was backdoor tabled on November 21,
2006. Now, we know that you have now
issued a denial of opinion for the 2005-06
financial statements of the Nunavut
Business Credit Corporation, and you had
indicated in your opening comments that
you will do the same thing for the next year
as well.

I guess I’'m just wondering, how serious of
an impact has this had on the GN’s
production of the 2005-06 and the 2006-07
public accounts, and when do you
anticipate being able to sign off on the
government’s financial statements for these
years and transmit your next annual report
to the Speaker? Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It
is true that the delay in the production of
financial statements for some of the Crown
corporations has had an effect on the
production of the government’s financial
statements.

There is, of course, NBCC but there’s also
the Housing Corporation, we’re just
actually finalizing now the audit for 2005-
06 and we have to, of course, wait. We
generally try to wait until we’re relatively
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comfortable with the numbers, or the
numbers are not so significant that they
would affect the government’s financial
statements overall.

We expect to complete the financial
statements of the government and
hopefully table them in February of 2008.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Do any
members have any general questions? Mr.
Peterson?

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
In your report, Madam Fraser, in Paragraph
7, you mentioned that a denial of opinion is
very rare and you also indicated in your
opening comments that it’s rare.

It’s our understanding as a Committee that
the only other time in your office’s history
that this has occurred, whether it’s federal,
Nunavut, NWT, or Yukon, was in 1985. So
that seems to be a very rare occurrence, and
at that particular time it was to do with the
financial statements of the Canadian
Broadcasting Corporation.

So | was wondering, could you compare
the circumstances in these two cases and
explain, for the public record, why a denial
of opinion is such a rare occurrence? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. A
denial of opinion is really an expression by
the auditor that we cannot conclude
whether the financial statements reflect the
financial position of the corporation and we
work, and the auditors and the corporation
work very hard to try to avoid that. It
generally is a case of not being able to have
sufficient documentation to be able to show
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that the numbers that are being presented
are reasonable.

What happened in the case of the CBC, |
believe, | wasn’t at the office at that time,
was that they had changed accounting
systems and that there were some very
serious problems with the computer system
and we couldn’t audit the data, and so
weren’t able to give an opinion.

In the case of NBCC it is, again, a question
in a large part of documentation, for
example, the loans; a lot of the transactions
were done by e-mail, I think we mentioned
in the report, there were something like
60,000 e-mails but they weren’t actually
filed by loans, so in order to do that, you
would have to go through all of those e-
mails, data was lost, records were erased,
the backup procedures that should have
worked did not work, so data was lost.

And, just basic management, | would say
that this, in some regards, it’s probably like
the CBC situation, but in other regards, it’s
not because | would doubt very much that
the CBC would have had the very poor
financial management that we see evidence
of in NBCC. So things like interest rates,
not respecting the regulations, securities
having expired and not being renewed, no
follow-up of payment schedules; those
sorts of things I think are much more
serious. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Madam Fraser for that answer. |
know you probably don’t like to answer
opinion type questions but could you give
us an indication of whether these
oversights, maintaining financial records
and statements, and losing information,
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would that be just negligence, or
incompetence, or is it indicative of
something more serious, such as fraud or
embezzlement? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Obviously, when we see a situation where
the documentation is so poor and the
controls appear to have been so poor as
well, we, too, are concerned that there may
have been other activities going on.

We did involve people from our forensic
audit group to see if there was any
indication of activities which could lead to
suspicions of fraud. We were unable to
conclude on that simply because, again, of
a lack of documentation. | guess my
general feeling is that it is more a question
of negligence.

I think, at the end of the day, it probably
comes down to a question in many ways of
capacity and competence, and | think that
that’s something that this Committee might
want to explore in more detail generally as
to what were the causes of this.

There are very few people in this
corporation. There may have been a factor
of trying to get things done and things just
weren’t getting filed. The people who were
running it have the competence to be able
to do business development and to do
lending activities.

What kind of rigour was instituted? We see
a general lack of policies and procedures,
and rigour in the way the business was
conducted. So | would suspect that it’s
more on those elements rather than any
willful intent to defraud.
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Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Madam Fraser for that answer. |
suppose you are aware by now that the
Minister responsible for Economic
Development and Transportation made an
announcement in the House that the files or
records of the Nunavut Business Credit
Corporation were being turned over to the
Royal Canadian Mounted Police, and to us
on this side, that was quite a serious
revelation and to people in the public.
When you turn stuff over to the RCMP, it
sends a certain message

So I’m wondering if you could tell us, or
for the public record, what the Government
of Nunavut or Department of Economic
Development and Transportation is hoping
to achieve or gain by turning over the
records of the Nunavut Business Credit
Corporation to the RCMP after your audit
report was tabled in the House? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The only comment I can really give is that
we did not feel it necessary to refer the file
to the RCMP because we saw no evidence
of anything that appeared to us to be
evidence of wrongdoing. As to why the
minister may have done that, | think that
would be more appropriate asked of him as
to why he referred the files to the RCMP.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Madam Fraser for that answer. As |
mentioned earlier, you’re the Auditor
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General for the federal, Nunavut,
Northwest Territories, and the Yukon
Territory, but there are other Auditor
Generals across Canada, provincial Auditor
Generals, | have met a few of them from
my travels down south in the summers. To
your knowledge, do you know how many
denials of opinion that provincial Auditors
General have issued in the last 20 years?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’m afraid, Mr. Chairman, that I don’t have
that information but I would suspect that
it’s very rare. | can, perhaps, give you my
own personal experience. | have been
working as an auditor now for 35 years.
This is the second case that I’ve seen of a
denial of opinion. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. And,
next year will be the third.

>>[ aughter
Anyone else have questions? Mr. Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. Yes, | also was
shocked that GN would proceed with, at
this early stage, whether or not to asking
the RCMP. | call it a fishing expedition
because your report was quite clear that
you did not find clear evidence that there
have been fraudulent activities taken. So
my question to you still is: have the RCMP
officials contacted your office yet with
regards to this? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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No, we have not been contacted by the
RCMP. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Mr. Chairman, sure, | think
it’s important that if there were fraudulent
acts, the RCMP should get on the trails, but
| believe that the government needed more
time to investigate whether or not there are
missing funds.

Has your office, your audit team, had any
range of funds missing? Is it less than
$100,000? What amount do you figure, if
there’s any, that may or may have not been
recorded in your view? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Well, Mr. Chairman, it’s
difficult to know, actually, how many of
those loans may not be collectible because
the documentation isn’t there.

There are some where payments are not
being made on a regular basis is that
because they won’t be recovered, or simply
due to other reasons, or because the
corporation hasn’t taken the necessary
steps to try to recover the amounts either, |
think we saw cases where payments hadn’t
been made and yet the corporation hadn’t
done a follow-up.

So that will obviously entail, and I’m sure
the corporation, right now, is doing a lot of
work to try to get an assessment of what
the situation is with respect to all of these
loans, are they up-to-date in their payments
or not, what action has to be taken, and
what securities are in place or need to
renewed, because that was one of the issues
as well, and then we’ll have to go through
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an assessment as to what is likely to be
collected or not. I think there was some
indication of a provision, perhaps, around
$5 million might be needed but that has to
be confirmed. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: | appreciate that response. We
will have following questions to the
government on these various items. With
respect to some of the information that you
indicated were missing from the
computers, do you have any evidence that
your team discovered if whether these
information that are important were deleted
by accident, or otherwise, have you guys
discovered whether they, in fact, were
accidentally deleted or whatnot? Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
What we know is that the information was
deleted. We do not know if there was any
reason why that happened and what the
motivations may have been for that
happening, I’m sorry. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. To continue on
though, for the benefit of the Committee
members, can you and your officials take
us through your forensic audit process and
indicate how you are able to determine that
data had been permanently erased from the
corporation computers?

We take it for granted that they’re missing
information and they were deleted from the
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files on the computers. Step-by-step, I
suppose, for us is useful so that we clearly
understand exactly how you discovered
those. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I’ll
ask Ms. Charron to explain what happened,
and as well, if she could also explain the
problems around the backup as well. 1
think that might help Committee members.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Ms.
Charron.

Ms. Charron: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The first thing that we do when we start an
audit is to request a copy of the electronic
files where the transactions are recorded, so
what we call the general ledger. This is
current practice. We got a copy of that.

We tried to match the information that was
in the computer system with the
information that we could find on files. At
times, we could see that the information
did not match. So we did ask questions
about that. We also wanted to have full
information on what had happened in each
of the files and we were told that this
information was filed in emails.

So we asked for a copy of the emails, we
asked for copies of the hard drives, the
personal computer drives of the individuals
working in the corporation, and we also
asked to get a backup of the information
that was stored on the server for the
corporation. Information was provided. We
copied some information and when we
tried to read it, it didn’t work. We were not
able to read the data that had been copied.

At times, while the backups were being
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made, the connections had stopped
working, so we had to retry. We went and
also, we met with the service provider for
the information technology, got more
information at that point, and tried to read
the data again and we were not able to get
the data that we were looking for.

We had been able to get some of that data
that was residing on the S-drive and some
on the computer drives of some individuals
within the corporation. In some cases, the
information had been erased, so we were
not able to go back, even with specific
procedures, to try to get this information
back and we were not able to read the
information.

We tried many times to go back, work with
the service provider to go back and get the
backup information, and we were not able
to read this information. We were told that
the backup protocol had changed in
September 2006, so all information prior to
that date had been deleted by the
corporation because the protocol had
changed.

So we were, unfortunately, not able to get
the information, that dated back to
September 2006. What we have been able
to get is the information on the shared drive
that existed at the time, also, the
information on the personal computer
drives of the individuals that we could have
access to new information.

We did ask to leave with two hard drives of
individuals to bring them back to Ottawa to
try to read the information, and that’s how
we got the 60,000 emails on file. The
information that we tried to get from the
service provider, the backup information
did not work and we had several attempts
to get this information. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Db o GeNPdS Abb®aP>a *M*a.SNbdC
bNbNMcc P>l CAYI]
BSNP>renrsdN™Ne. CAbo AcA*ado* o™
A"DOC CA°I bGP ADGo]%IC

Aa A TLENdC AX*ac DL 2C

Ac Mg AcD®DJLO Ac N>

ASba AL®NC SHGHDL P gres] e

AY*a.c PDeC2C Ac *Lo o CAPIC
O%NBCAGT NNGPC>HCEIMTD>LOC
CALADUL®N DY AR <</ L oNede
AR DEPCDC QL

DSbclLPa.c >*Monede CAbd<
CAbG<OLE,

> 0®IA® 5C CAPI AaAbeCc >®CSC <L >
SHGRDLYCNAC AbLNMa A DS 5NedC,
D>SbcLPac D*NCSC CAbD <LL>
D>b>YLD>c >N HC CAPI PYJAD>NYNC
JNAN 2006-TJ% <P7pseCP>c DSLe, CAbd<
JNAN 2006 D*LoDC ALSCHCNLLAcSeDC
AR I/ P C>YLC.

LM <da. D55 CAbI< A¥eac D*+NC2C /NAn
2006 D*Lo CAJ**LCP>bCCeIAT>L e,
CA%a SbhseC>se ShGaDLSe Ac Mg
AS*a.c D®DIJUC AL A%ba AL®NC
SHGNDLENeECIC A M o Ad*ac DSPIJC,

A, Dp/Ssbe PTLJC Lp o CAPI DR C
DN>N“ONed* CAL®a 60 CPN® ALAN, Ac®
SHGRD>LPdE NNSBNNYD>SHECe >*eDa®

Cdcc D®DJC, DSbcLPea se/c P®DJC. PY<lo
CAb< PJ=ADSeNC,

PPN D>BECTILLC D> oIA® 5NbdC
A b 5<IGENPIC AN PBCDC. Sdhal®,
AbIRPCsb,

37




Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Charron. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. That’s very
helpful to us. During the course of your
audit, obviously, the location is quite
important, probably, mainly Cape Dorset to
say that.

As you indicated to us earlier that you had
difficulty deriving or gathering information
from these computers, did you find at all,
or is there any indication that any of the
hard drives were missing at all? Were you
satisfied that the computers that were used
mainly were all in one shop, or are there
potential information that may be
somewhere else in Nunavut that we can
find later? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Charron.

Ms. Charron: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We have no indication that the hard drives
would be missing. When we asked for
information, we were provided with the
information we asked for. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Charron. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. Yes, that is on site
at Cape Dorset but you also, in the report,
indicated that there were other locations
like Ottawa where legal offices are. We
were also able to ask information from
these law offices. Are we talking about one
law office or are there other legal offices
somewhere else? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Charron.
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Ms. Charron: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
There was no electronic data that we were
made aware of that was located outside of
Cape Dorset. The service provider,
although is located in Ottawa, did not have
any data in Ottawa per se, all the data was
located in Cape Dorset.

As for the lawyers, we have visited the
lawyers’ office as we did in previous years,
to compliment the information that was in
NBCC’s files and the law firm was able to
provide us with the information we
requested. We also know that, at times,
NBCC has dealt with a legal firm outside
of Ottawa located in Yellowknife. However
for the 2005-06 fiscal year, limited files
were given to this lawyer in Yellowknife.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Charron. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. That’s very
important to know. | have another follow-
up question with respect to the statement
that there may be a missing funds issue,
obviously.

Is there more, in your opinion, Madam
Fraser, that the Government of Nunavut
can look into this besides... Obviously,
someone’s going to have to provide that
information if there’s missing information
with respect to either loans or the financial
amount that may be missing. Who, in your
opinion, is responsible for trying to get to
the bottom of this aside from the RCMP?
Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. As
I mentioned earlier, | think it’s important
that the corporation do a really good
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assessment of what the situation is now. So
I would say that largely is a function the
corporation should be doing, that they
should establish what loans are
outstanding, what the terms and conditions
of those loans are, what the security is
around them, that it be clear as well with
the borrowers.

I think they have to confirm all of this with
the borrowers if there isn’t sufficient
documentation of some of the files but
some of the files, there wasn’t sufficient
documentation, and then assess whether the
borrowers had been making the payments
as expected, and if not, then they will have
to go, obviously, case-by-case to assess
what action is needed.

So I think it’s really a responsibility of the
current management of the corporation.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. Yes, you’re very
kind to the corporation. Thank you, |
appreciate that very much. | believe it’s
also the responsibility of the government
from this side at least that they account for
every penny that the corporation has spent
or lent to some companies out there.

I have a further question with respect to the
investigation that had been called upon by
the government. | believe that you did your
job quite well with respect to the fraud that
you were not able to conclude whether
fraudulent acts have taken place. You have
very able forensic audit team members that
did dig into that and concluded that you
could not really have a smoking gun
anywhere to lead you to further
investigation.

In view of the fact that there are now
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suspects, if you have a business
relationship with NBCC, or have loans, GN
has practically concluded there are now
suspects out there and we have called upon
RCMP to look into it. Is it normal without
the forensic team actually finding some
kind of a smoking gun leading somewhere
that the government should take action and
call upon the RCMP? What more could the
RCMP do that the forensic audit team
could not do? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Let
me first clarify that our forensic team and
our auditors could not conclude whether
there was fraud or not. We do not make the
statement that there was no fraud. Because
of the lack of documentation, we saw
nothing that led us to believe that there
needs to be further investigation but that
doesn’t mean on the other hand that
everything was absolutely correct either.

As to the government’s decisions, | said
earlier, I think it’s really up to the
government to explain but it would not be
unusual, I don’t think, given the poor state
of record keeping, the numbers of
questions that were being raised, and the
really bad financial management that had
occurred, that government would request
the RCMP to look at this.

The RCMP certainly have investigative
powers far beyond what we do; we are
limited to an audit role, they can go much
more widely then that and they may feel
that further work is necessary, and it would
be really up to the RCMP to decide if they
were to do an investigation or not.

I would like to just make a comment, you
sort of made a reference to the question of
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suspects and this is one of the things that
worries me is that there has been a list
provided of all of the loans that had been
issued.

I think it’s important to say that all of these
people should not be tarnished by the audit
report and the comments that we’re making
when we were auditing NBCC, not the
borrowers, and unfortunately, sometimes
there are audits and findings get
generalized beyond the corporation that it
applies to and other people kind of get
affected by it.

So | think that we should remember that
these people, most of them, are probably
paying their loans that do business with the
corporation and all of this in an honest and
upright manner. So I would just caution all
that we have to be careful that people aren’t
unduly harmed in this process. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
appreciate that. I fully share your view but
the government did announce in the House,
in this Chamber, that they have called on
the comptroller to call the RCMP, and in
my opinion, | think the government, in my
view, should have done a wee bit more and
not to take this bad situation as a political
opportunity to say that they’re doing
something. So I really, truly understand
what you’re doing and so on.

You also, in one of your reports, indicated
comments that the board was somewhat
heavily involved with, at least I believe, the
chairman of the board. Was that really
mainly due to the fact that the CEO was
absent, or was there a particular reason for
having more active involvement of the
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chairman?

I do truly respect the chairman of the
board, who was a proven businessman and
so on. So it was not clear as to why that
reference made in there, I can only
conclude that that had to do with the fact
that the buck wasn’t stopping anywhere. So
was that one of the reasons that the
chairman of the board was also advising
the staff on some of the business or
management issues? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We brought up those comments in relation
to the respective responsibilities of the
board and management, and the roles of
board is really to provide strategic direction
to a corporation and then to ensure proper
oversight.

The board should not get involved in the
day-to-day activities and we saw clear
evidence that the chair was very involved
and giving very detailed instructions,
which causes problems in a number of
levels. One is it sort of confuses the role
between the board and management, it
might also affect the ability of other board
members to then question what is going on
if the chair is taking such an active role,
and there’s the whole question of proper
oversight.

I think one of the things that we saw as
well was that the board was receiving
assurances at one point that everything was
being done and done well, but perhaps,
didn’t follow through with the kinds of
questions to probe and to actually
challenge that.

So it is important to establish and to make
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sure that responsibilities, and if the issue is
if the board then feels that management is
not conducting itself properly, or doing
what it should be doing, it can either give
more explicit instructions, and if
management is not responding to that, then
the board changes management. The board
should not then start managing. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Curley.

Mr. Curley: Thank you. This will be my
last question for a while. What I conclude
from your statement then that, in your
opinion, say the confusion of what the roles
and responsibilities that the board, the
minister, and the management were, it
appears to be, to cut through all of these
confusions, that there was no clear
understanding exactly how the whole
NBCC structure, the board, and the
minister were operating. Is that your
conclusion? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Yes, Mr. Curley has put it very articulately.
That was in fact a big problem that the
roles and responsibilities were not clear. In
fact, the CEO was reporting to the deputy
minister. In a Crown corporation, we
expect the CEO to report to the board. The
chair of the board was being very actively
involved in day-to-day management. So the
roles were being confused and the
oversight function was, perhaps, not being
carried out as rigorously as it should have
been. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Curley.
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Mr. Curley: Thank you. | appreciate that
because it seems to be clearer from reading
through all of the scripts here and there.

I also have one question. In one of your
references to the Crown corporation, you
put it quite delicately that the GN should
reassess the programs of this organization
and maybe reconsider the structure of the
corporation. | was not altogether clear
exactly what you mean by that, but what |
appear to have heard from you was and are
you saying that it should be brought back
completely to the GN as one option? Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Curley. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Obviously, that is one option, especially
when we see the case where the CEO has
been reporting to the deputy minister. So
that would indicate that there has been a
much closer relationship with government
and a Crown corporation than we would
normally expect.

I personally think it would be very
important to assess not only this Crown
corporation but all Crown corporations as
to the level of capabilities of both the
management and board, and the
competence and the kind of skills that they
should have. Where best are you going to
get that? If you put some of these
corporations out into communities, will
that community be able to support that
corporation with the kinds of skills and
competencies that you need? Will you have
the board members as well, that are able to
provide proper oversight? And, what best
structure, if you maintained and that’s all,
presuming you maintained that as a Crown
corporation.
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If it’s a part of government, on the other
extreme, then it’s a different kind of
relationship and a different skill set, and
oversight responsibilities that are needed,
and I think that that should be done not
only for NBCC but probably other Crown
corporations as well. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Maybe
just a question, 1 know Mr. Curley talked
about the list and you mentioned the list as
well, and I know in your report and you
said the list is real nice but other than
giving us the names of the businesses, it
really doesn’t tell us a whole heck of a lot.

As you identified in your report, there are a
number of these that are in arrears and
some for significant amounts of time. Are
you aware, provided the list, as soon as we
got it to your officials this morning, if there
is the same listing that your officials used
when they were looking and determining,
finding its findings, when they went
through it? Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Mr. Chairman, we just got the
list as well, so we haven’t really looked at
it. I would presume it is the same as the one
that we looked at, but I would hesitate to
confirm that before we’ve actually
compared them.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. We get
stuff at the last minute. That’s what
happens here.

I guess the other thing | would like to ask
you is a lot of the observations that you
found in there where it talked about
delinquent loans and some for, again,
years, I’m sure if you went through them,
there is a list of those ones, are you aware
if there’s a list of all of the loans, like
where they’re at?
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This one here just has the original amount.
When you went through that, when your
officials were looking at it, did it have the
original amount, or the current status of it,
how long it’s been in arrears for, and so on
and so forth? Was that all the information
that your officials looked at and had on
each of these loans that the observations
were made? Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Mr. Chairman, as we mention
in the report, the corporation used a system
that contained the loan information but we
found that there were many errors in the
data that were in there and there were a
number of corrections. And, again, that’s
one of the reasons why we had to deny an
opinion with because we weren’t sure that
the underlying data was accurate.

So again, I think that’s one of the things
that the corporation has to do, and is
probably working on now, is making sure
that the data is as reliable as it can be at this
point in time.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. It
would be nice to find out and | think it
would be useful to see... | mean like | said,
with some of the observations that are
made in there, it would be interesting to see
which one of these loans...

Or, I mean like | said, or Mr. Curley said,
and Ms. Fraser indicated that if you put out
a list like this and then everyone thinks
they’re all suspects, well, for all we know,
the majority of these people could be
making their payments and be right up-to-
date, and not have any problems with it. |
think those are not the ones that will worry
about it.

It would be very interesting to see a listing
of delinquent loans and for how long they
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have been delinquent for. Do you know if a
list like that exists? Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Mr. Chairman, | would,
perhaps, caution that some of this might be
commercially sensitive and might be
protected information under privacy and
other legislation. The Committee might
want to actually ask the Law Clerk or
others if that kind of information could, in
fact, even be made public.

I’m not a legal expert in this but | know
that we would have great difficulty and we
would not be able to disclose the specific
information around those in our report, and
that would be something, I think, the
corporation and the Committee should
investigate if that would be possible or not
to do that. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. We
certainly will. I think a lot of some of the
stuff that went on, we can only speculate
those ones that have been delinquent for
some time may have something to do with
it, along with some of the other
observations that you made in your report.

In your report you indicated that you
advised the Nunavut Business Credit
Corporation’s Board of Directors and the
Deputy Ministers of Finance and Economic
Development and Transportation that you
could not form an opinion on the
corporation’s 2005-06 financial statements
and that you decided to carry out this audit
after you issued a denial of opinion. Can
you indicate on what date that you first
advised them of your denial of opinion?
Did any of these parties try to dispute your
decision? Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We have had a number of discussions with
the board of directors, going back into
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actually 2006, about the problems we were
having with the audit and the difficulties,
but the audit team continued to work to
resolve the problems with management.
That continued on actually for quite a
while.

We met the board and were clear about the
denial early this year, in February of 2007.

I think because of all of the discussions that
had occurred during 2006, the board was
aware of the problems and I think
understood why we were not able to form
an opinion on the financial statements.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. They
knew over a year ago and | believe the
minister even said that here in the House, it
was back in November of 2006, or
October, or November 2006, when this
audit determined that they wanted to move
forward in this fashion, that they were well
aware of a lot of the concerns that had been
formally identified in your report.

If they have been aware of them for that
length of time, it’s over a year now, in your
view, not only with your officials, I’m sure
once you have said, “Okay, we found all of
this and we’re not going to be late.” What
the government did is just write a letter and
said, “Fix it and go away, and hope you
do,” I assume that your officials have been
monitoring the situation since then.

I just wondered if what steps, or if your
office feels they have taken steps since last
year that would help to rectify the problems
that had been identified. Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. As
I mentioned, many of the problems that we
encountered and led us to denying an
opinion continued on through 2006, and so,
will affect our ability to issue an opinion on
the March 2007 financial statements.
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I would take note that there was a new
comptroller hired, who, I think will tell
you, has been working very hard to try to
fix these issues, and to put the systems and
practices in place. | would indicate that
these things aren’t going to be resolved
overnight.

There’s a lot of work that has to be done
but we are hopeful that the issues are being
addressed. We are all trying to focus now
on making sure that the financial
statements for March 2008 that we will be
able to issue an opinion on those financial
statements. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. We
wouldn’t want to go for a three in a row,
eh?

>>| aughter

In baseball, you only get three strikes. I’'m
sure that the new comptroller has got his
work cut out for him and | sympathize with
him on that. Since last year, when a lot of
these issues were brought to the attention at
the NBCC, had they taken, in your view...

I’m sure your office has regular meetings
on follow-up on some of this, and the fact
that you’ve been looking at the following
years’ financial statements as well, what
kind of improvements, steps, and measures
have you observed, or your officials
observed, since this all first came out over
a year ago that the corporation has taken to
try and address them? Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We have certainly seen indications that the
corporation has taken very seriously. They
have taken a number of actions, as |
mentioned, there’s an acting CEO now,
there has been a change though in
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personnel a bit over the time, but there was
an acting CEO who went into the
corporation.

There had been discussions and | believe a
lawyer working on the whole question of
securities for the loans; a filing system has
been put in place; they have re-instituted
some of the procedures that were
previously in place in the Northwest
Territories, so brought in some of those
procedures; and confirmations of loans has
been sent.

So there has been a lot of work and I’'m
sure that the corporation officials and
government can tell you more about what
they’re doing, but we have certainly seen
indications that there has been recognition
that the situation is serious and they are
taking action to deal with it. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Just
another quick question is that all of these
things that you’ve mentioned that they’ve
done, have all these things happened since
your report was tabled here in House, or
have they been ongoing for the last year?
Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Mr. Chairman, they had been
ongoing for the last year, it’s not just
recently. This work has been going on for
several months. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. | don’t
know if you can answer this question but
I’m going to ask it anyway. | guess | was
little surprised myself when the minister,
and again, | think it was a political decision
after the report was tabled, the next day
they come out with a statement to say that
they’ve suspended lending activities and
accepted the resignation of three members
of the board of directors, after, as you had
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just indicated they’ve been working on
improving these things for the last year.

In your view, | don’t know if I can ask you
if you were surprised by that move, or do
you think that a move like that would have
been necessary given the progress that
they’ve made in the last year? Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Mr. Chairman, you’re right
that I can’t really answer that question. |
think you’ll have to ask government and
the minister for the rationale behind that.
Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Sorry,
I had to have it on the record. Mr.
Barnabas, do you have a question?

Mr. Barnabas (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. The Standing Committee
held hearings in 2004 and 2006, and they
have tabled a report to the Legislative
Assembly. The Nunavut Business Credit
Corporation and GN witnesses were
present at both hearings to answer
questions, including the former CEO of the
Nunavut Business Credit Corporation. In
retrospect, can you advise the Standing
Committee if any of the testimony
provided to the Standing Committee by the
Nunavut Business Credit Corporation or
Government of Nunavut witnesses during
those hearings was false or misleading?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Barnabas. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
That is not something that we went back
and assessed; the testimony. We were more
focused on the financial statement. That
might be something that the Committee
would want to look at with your clerks and
researchers. I’m not sure that it would be
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appropriate for us to be doing that. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Barnabas.

Mr. Barnabas (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Thank you, Ms. Fraser. In
your report you indicate that in some cases,
it appears that some funds provided by
NBCC to borrowers were not used for
approved purposes. Can you clarify this
observation and provide some examples of
what the money may have actually been
used for? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Barnabas. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. As
we mentioned in the report, we noted cases
where there were more funds lent than had
actually been requested, or were needed for
the specific project, and there was no
indication of what those additional funds
were to be used for.

I’m not sure if it’s mentioned in the report
but I know we saw some cases, too, where
funds were used to pay taxes that were
outstanding and that had not been
specifically mentioned in the application.

So there were instances like that where the
funds may not have been used for the
purposes that were indicated in the
application and there was no follow-up
either by the corporation to ensure that the
funds were used for the purposes that were
intended. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Barnabas.

Mr. Barnabas (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. This will be my last
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question to Ms. Fraser for now.
(interpretation ends) In your report, you
indicated that the former Chairperson of the
Board of Directors of the NBCC was
“heavily involved in the management of the
corporation’s day-to-day operations which
contributed to confusion over proper roles
and responsibilities.” Can you provide
some specific examples of how this
contributed to problems at the NBCC?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Barnabas. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Speaker. As
we mentioned in the report, we found cases
where the chair gave very detailed
instructions on operations and | can,
perhaps, ask Ms. Charron to give more
specific examples of that.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Ms.
Charron.

Ms. Charron: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We have seen indications where the chair
of the board provided approval on
overtime; on what files the individuals
were to work on; how the filing system
should be put in place; payment of
invoices; travel that had to take place;
whether or not travel was needed; or files
were to be looked at; also, in specific cases,
in the management of some borrowers’
files, whether it be getting involved in the
day-to-day management of those
organizations, or follow-up on procedures
that were in place for loans in arrears or
payments; things like that.

On a daily basis we have seen, almost on a
daily basis, evidence that the chair was
involved also in the preparation of the
annual report and what was to be done.
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Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Charron.
Maybe just before 1 go back to Mr.
Barnabas, | just want to make sure, confirm
what I heard, and understand it correctly.
You indicated that the chairperson was
directing staff to work on certain files; was
it loan files or applications; and also
involved in what files to look at and parts
of the application for the staff to look at. Is
that correct? Ms. Charron.

Ms. Charron: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
wouldn’t go as far as saying what loans to
look at but in terms of priorities; where the
staff should put their priorities on a daily
basis; should they look at the filing system
rather than the loan application, and things
like that. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Charron. |
think that’s an important clarification that
needs to be made. Mr. Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My colleague, Mr. Curley, was asking a lot
of questions that brought back some fond
memories of my days with NWT that
reminded me that it’s difficult to be a board
member in a lending institution because
you have a lot of pressures on you. If
you’re from a particular region, you want
to help your region. You’re supposed to
provide input to the board and to the
management on your community or your
region, so it’s a very important role.

The board members don’t come with a lot
of lending experience and all of that kind of
knowledge; you’re not accountants, you’re
not lawyers, you’re just regular folks but
you might have some business background
or some other background.

I’m wondering when you did your
performance audit did you consider or
review the qualifications on the board
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members that were appointed by the
government to that board? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We did note that the board did not have
collectively the skills that we would have
expected to have in a corporation of this
size and with the complexity of business
operations as well, lending in business
development is a complex area.

We noted that they didn’t have a lot of
experience in finance. It would have
benefited with more members that it would
have had as well, with some experience in
economic development or in legal matters.

We also discussed the training, that the
board members were not provided with
kind of an orientation and training that one
would expect, and there was some training
available to them, the board members
didn’t attend. So there | think a question on
both sides, both from the corporation and
from the board members.

A program or practice which is becoming
increasingly used is for boards to identify
the kinds of skills that they need as a board,
and then to try to recruit people who have
those skills so that you have it, or if you are
unable to do that, that you then use maybe
outside experts to try and help on a
consultative basis infrequently just to give
either training, or if it is a very difficult
issue that the board have to deal with that
they get sort of a second opinion on certain
things so that they are able to increase their
knowledge and to provide better oversight
to management functions. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Fraser for that information. Do
you think, in your opinion, if board
members were appointed to a board of that
nature where they’re responsible for
lending money, if they had more of an
experience, if they were accountants, or if
they were current business owners, or if
they have some banking background,
would that have helped them provide better
oversight to the Business Credit
Corporation? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Obviously, there’s no guarantee but you
would like to think that if people had had,
perhaps, more experience in lending
operations, or in business development,
that they would have been able to probe
some of the practices, or just even kind of
financial management because a lot of what
we’re talking about is just the basic
elements of financial management; keeping
good filing systems, having good records,
and good accounting systems.

And so, people that had, perhaps, more
business experience might have been able
to challenge management a little more on
what was being done and not simply accept
the assurances that were being given to
them. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Fraser for that answer. In your
opening comments, you stated that you
decided to carry out this audit after denying
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an opinion on the corporation’s financial
statements for the year ended March 31,
2006. Can you give us some reasons why?

I’m reading the Auditor’s Report that we
have in our briefing binder for the year
ended March 31, 2005, and there was a
management letter that was signed off by
Ms. Charron, the Principal for the Auditor
General. So | guess that’s the page you
have identified some concerns with loans.
In her comments she said, “Further, in my
opinion, proper books of account have been
kept by the corporation.”

I’m trying to sort of get an idea of when
did the breakdown in the Nunavut Business
Credit Corporation systems actually begin
to occur. If Ms. Charron is saying that she
is satisfied with March 31, 2005, but then
you say, in March 31, 2006, that proper
books and records weren’t being kept.

So I’m just trying to get a time frame for
when did this all happen in one fiscal year,
or was it something that was sorting of
building, and in the previous years, you
didn’t get a chance to really go into the
nitty-gritty of a performance audit at the
Business Credit Corporation. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. If
you look back at the audit opinions that we
had issued on the corporation in the past, |
think all of them have had qualifications,
which is an indication that there were some
problems there.

Though we were able to find enough
evidence and there was sort of a basic
accounting record that enabled us to give
an opinion overall on the financial
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statements to the point of this specific
problem, there was actually quite a
significant management letter which we
issued after the 2005 audit, which, when
you look back now, was a clear indication
that things were not going well. I would
say the major problem arose when the
previous comptroller left the organization
in March of 2005, and that’s when we
noted that things really got worse.

As well, the loan activity had increased
significantly during that period and | think
we can sort of speculate on a lot of reasons,
but with a very heavy loan activity and
maybe not enough support there, I think
things just sort of compounded and it got
really bad in that year ending in 2006.

There was also, as we mentioned,
(inaudible), there was also a change in the
computer system at the same time. So a lot
of things happened, and I think, which just
compounded the difficulties in that
corporation. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Fraser for that information. It
seems like there was a total collapse at a
certain point.

I know we’ve reviewed previous Auditor
General’s Reports and we’ve made our
recommendations. Is it possible that if the
Government of Nunavut had acted on your
recommendations, and then our Standing
Committee recommendations, that from the
2001-02 to 2004 reports, if they had acted
on them shortly after our recommendations
went in, could this situation have been
avoided or mitigated? Is that a possibility?

Was it just like a tsunami; it was out there
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and it was coming, but you didn’t know it
was coming until it was on the shore and
your land there, sunbathing or whatever?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Obviously, we like to think that if some of
the recommendations have been
implemented, this situation wouldn’t have
occurred.

I think that this corporation is very
dependent on the capability or the
competence of the people that it has
working there. It’s a very small
organization and the departure of one key
person can have a very significant
influence. So when we say implementation
of recommendations, that’s sort of
presuming that there’s a stable, confident
staff there, and if that had been the case,
I’m sure this would not have happened.

But, as we mentioned, the departure of one
key employee, coupled with a lot of other
factors, I think really compounded and
made for a very bad situation. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Fraser. As | mentioned earlier in
my opening comments, when | was with
the NWTBCC, we did have a fairly good
set of policies, guidelines, and procedures,
and in fact, it was turned over to the
Government of Nunavut at the time and
just set up the NBCC. In fact, | think for
the first year, the Government of Nunavut
department actually provided the support to
the Nunavut Business Credit Corporation.
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They also received support from the staff at
the NWT Business Credit Corporation.

So there was an opportunity in the first
year, too, to put in place some very solid
procedures, controls, guidelines, and
policies, whatever you want to call it, that
the NBCC could have used as a foundation
to go forward regardless of whether they
had all staff in place or not. There was,
obviously, an opportunity for them if they
were short-staffed, they could call on the
officials of the Government of Nunavut to
assist them.

I’m wondering, somewhere in your report...
just let me finish here I guess. The
summary report of the Government of
Nunavut’s report, these comments here
said they’re going to reinstitute the NWT
policies, guidelines, criteria and whatnot.
At what point did they start not using
those?

Was there a conscious decision not to use
all of that information and go their own
way, and if so, what were they relying on
to guide them to make their loans, monitor,
collections, and all of that sort of stuff?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We do note in the report that the
corporation did bring over many of the
procedures from the Northwest Territories
and had those policies in place. They
weren’t using them and they were not in
application when we did our audit, and we
believe it’s when the comptroller left in
March of 2005 that then those policies
were not being followed any longer. Thank
you.
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Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Fraser for that answer. Can you
tell us when the NBCC started reusing
those policies, guidelines, and procedures?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Or when they rediscovered
they had them? Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We believe it was in December of 2006,
but you might want to confirm that with the
corporation.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Fraser for that. I’m still confused
when you say that when the comptroller
left in March 2005, the board of directors
was still there, and | know the former
chairman was part of the NWT Business
Credit Corporation and one of the other
directors, so they were still there.
Regardless of whether the comptroller was
there or not, the board of directors was still
there and they knew that there were these
policies, guidelines and procedures, and
practices that were established.

So how is it that because of one employee
could leave, that this entire Nunavut
Business Credit Corporation seems to be
losing the information that they had at their
hands, at their disposal, when they could
have just carried on. And, the recruited, it
might have taken them three months, six
months, or nine months, but they still had
the guidelines there that could help them
with their loans and carry out their
business.
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So I’m not quite sure how that could occur.
I wonder if the Auditor General could
clarify that for us. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
will ask Ms. Charron to respond to that
question, please. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Ms.
Charron.

Ms. Charron: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
have to say that the departure of the
comptroller coincided with the arrival of
two new staff members, or just about at the
same period the loans manager and the
CEO joined the corporation.

The information that was provided to the
board was very limited for loan approval,
and also, we noted that information
provided to directors was late in being
submitted to the directors. Sometimes
directors were provided with the
information on the day of the meeting, so it
did not give them a lot of time to review
the information and to challenge the
information that was provided for them for
their review.

We know that when the former CEO
arrived, the policies were not followed, and
it’s only when the new acting CEO joined
the corporation in December of 2006 that
they re-instituted and found that the NWT
procedures were in place and should have
been used. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Charron. Mr.
Peterson.
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Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Charron for that answer. I’'m still
not clear; the comptroller left, two new
employees came, but they still had the
board of directors, who have been there
since they were appointed where it was in
1999 in some cases, and in others, later on.
So they must have been fully aware that
there were policies, procedures, and
guidelines to follow.

So, in fact, in my mind, it would almost be
like the board of directors educating the
two new employees about how things work
here, because they come, I’m sure the new
comptroller, he’s not suddenly showing up
in Cape Dorset and thinks he knows
everything, he’s got to call a meeting with
the board of directors that will sit down and
discuss things.

How is it possible that the entire board of
directors sort of allowed themselves to be
controlled, or manipulated, or kept in the
dark by some new employees who just got
off the plane and suddenly knew it all?

The board of directors was very aware of
what the procedures were and they had to
know that as a board of director, you don’t
just show up at a meeting and get the
package. You have to get them a week or
two in advance to properly review them so
you could prepare your questions. It’s not
different than the Standing Committee
here. We have been reading the report for
weeks and we got our packages and other
information in the last couple of weeks, so
we are not just showing up today. It would
be a very difficult meeting for us if we just
got off the plane and didn’t know what we
were dealing with.

So how is it possible that the board of
directors completely, sort of failed in
keeping the employees in line and showing
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them, “Here’s how things work. This is
how we do things. Here’s what’s
established.” There is a fiduciary duty here,
and I’m just totally confused, having been
on the board, it never happened when | was
on an NWT board, or in the early years
with the Nunavut Business Credit
Corporation. Perhaps, you could clarify
that for me. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I’m afraid | won’t be able to cast much
light on Mr. Peterson’s question. We don’t
know.

When we go back, in fact, through the
minutes of the board meeting, they’re not
very well documented, the minutes. So it’s
difficult to even know what kinds of
questions were being asked. All | can
suggest is, perhaps, the Committee will
want to take that up with the board
members to try to understand what
occurred back then. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Fraser for that, I guess it was not
the information | was seeking but it sort of
gives an idea for future questions for
Government of Nunavut officials.

Earlier, you mentioned that the CEO
seemed to be reporting to the deputy
minister. | know in the NWT days, we had
a similar case that the CEO told us that the
deputy minister was trying to get him to
report to him, but we, as a board, said “No,
you don’t report to the deputy minister.”
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So when there’s like a tug-of-war in that
regard where the CEO and the board
summoned the minister in to clarify, “Do
we report to the Department of Economic
Development, or to the deputy minister, or
do we report to the minister?” So we didn’t
want our CEO to go and report to the
deputy minister and take his directions
because there’s a board to report to, and
that’s how we were very effective in that
regard. There was a team and we knew
what we had to do; the staff, the CEO and
the board; the chairman reported to the
minister.

Is there any evidence in your performance
audit that the chairman reported to the
minister and that the CEO actually reported
to the chairman, not to the deputy minister
of the department? Can you clarify that if
you found that? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. As
we note in the report, we did find, actually,
there were two instances raised. One is
going back to 2003; a letter of instructions
that indicated that the CEO was to report to
the deputy minister, and then that was,
again, confirmed in December of 2006. So
there were clearly instructions given that
the CEO was to have a reporting
relationship with the deputy minister.

In one case they said that it was a “dotted
line,” but still having those letters of
instructions then confused, as we
mentioned earlier, the roles and
responsibilities between the CEO, the
board, the deputy minister, and ultimately,
of course, the minister, and it led to,
obviously, to the confusion about who was
reporting to who and who was responsible
to who. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. And
now, it seems like it’s who’s responsible
for what. Mr. Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Fraser for that answer. In the
review of the letters or correspondence, did
the department indicate why they wanted
the CEO to report to the deputy minister
rather than report to the CEO of the
Business Credit Corporation? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
don’t believe that there was any specific
reason given as to why that reporting
relationship was established like that, and
again, that would have to be something that
would have to be asked of government.
Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Don’t
worry, our government officials, we
haven’t forgotten about you. Ms. Fraser is
only here until tomorrow and we know that
you guys are here longer than that.

>>[ aughter
Mr. Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Fraser for that answer. The
Government of Nunavut officials are
listening intently to the questions and
answers, I’m sure.

In your experience in auditing Crown
agencies in the federal government, in the
Yukon, and in the Northwest Territories,
are you aware of any other situations where
the CEO of a Crown agency reports to a
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deputy minister in the government? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The short answer to that would be no. We
have raised concerns federally that the fact
that the presidents of Crown corporations
are, in fact, named by the minister and
named by the Governor in Council could,
in most of the Crowns but not all of the
Crowns, could, in fact, affect the
relationship of the CEO with the board, and
it made a number of recommendations
about that.

It is clear in all of those cases that the CEO
reports to the board and the nomination, we
think, could affect that a bit but that is the
only part of that whole relationship in all of
the cases, the CEO, it’s very clear, reports
to the board. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Fraser for that answer. When
you interviewed the former Chairperson of
the Nunavut Business Credit Corporation,
did you ask him how he felt about the fact
that the CEO didn’t report to him but rather
reported to a deputy minister in the
Government of Nunavut? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
No, that did not come up in discussions
with the former chair. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Fraser for that answer. Can you
tell us if the chairman of the board who he
reported to? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: | believe, Mr. Chairman, that
he reported to the Minister of Economic
Development. | don’t know that we
specifically say that in the report, but that is
my understanding of the reporting
relationship. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Fraser for that answer. Do you
know for sure if he reported to the
minister? Was there any correspondence
between the CEO and the minister? Was
there any record of any meetings, or
minutes, or instructions from the minister
to the chairperson, or the chairperson to the
minister? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Yes, Mr. Chairman, we did see evidence of
correspondence between the chair and the
Minister of Economic Development.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Fraser for that. Could you,
perhaps, clarify for the Standing
Committee what type of correspondence
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there might have been? I know, as far as a
chairperson, you would want to
communicate to the minister what’s
happening on a regular basis, say monthly,
but there were issues arising. Would they
have been brought up with the minister?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. If
we could, could we come back with a
response to that? We would have to go
back into the files to see what the specific
correspondence was about and if it was to
that particular minister or not. So if we can,
perhaps, tomorrow morning we could
provide you with that information. Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. I’'m
sure Mr. Peterson won’t have a problem
with that, Ms. Fraser. Keith, you have any
other questions? Go ahead.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Fraser. That’s fine with me.
We’re here for a few days anyways, so
there’s no real hurry for that.

I had read in your report where you
indicated that “the government may wish to
reconsider the separate corporate structure
it currently has in place to achieve the
public policy objectives of helping to create
employment and contributing to economic
development.” As you know, in the
Northwest Territories, they combined their
Business Credit Corporation and their
Development Corporation into one
organization called the Business
Development and Investment Corporation.
Your office audits that new organization or
corporation. Can you indicate if this new
organization is successfully avoiding the
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problems that reflected the Nunavut
Business Credit Corporation which you
have identified? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We are certainly not having the problems
that we have had with NBCC as to basic
record keeping and management of loans. |
wouldn’t want, though, to give the
impression that that could be attributed to
the fact that the two corporations were
combined. I think they always had basic
good financial management and record
keeping there. So we are not having those
problems, no. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Fraser for that answer. In
Nunavut, of course, we have the Nunavut
Business Credit Corporation which we’re
discussing today. We also have the
Nunavut Development Corporation, and
I’m aware that the Government of Nunavut
had put out an RFP last fall | think and they
hired a consultant firm out of Yellowknife,
I believe, to review both organizations.

I’m not sure what the intent is but, perhaps,
you could give us an indication on whether
you think it might be practical for the
Government of Nunavut to consider
combining the Nunavut Development
Corporation and the Nunavut Business
Credit Corporation into one entity similar
to the NWT, and by doing that, it sort of
gives a critical mass. There would be more
staff, there would be a similar accounting
system, and more coverage out in the
communities. There are probably all kinds
of potential there.
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I’m just wondering, from your experience
with auditing the new entity in the
Northwest Territories, if it’s something that
might be practical for Nunavut. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Obviously, I think that, too, is one of the
options that should be looked at.

I think what we were trying to get at is that
there is a Crown corporation involved with
a fairly heavy corporate structure. In fact, |
think at one point, there were more people
on the board than there were employees of
the corporation. When you see that, you
have to wonder if that structure is the most
efficient and the most effective. And, either
combining it with another one, or maybe
bringing in parts of the program back into a
government department; | mean there are
various options but there should be an
assessment done.

Obviously, keeping the Crown corporation
as is, is a viable option as well but,

perhaps, it’s time, given everything that has
happened, to look at those various options
and say, “Is this still the best course of
action for this program and is this the most
efficient way to deliver it?”

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Mr.
Peterson.

Mr. Peterson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank Ms. Fraser. In one of your earlier
Auditor General’s Reports about the
Government of Nunavut, you mentioned
re-centralization of financial functions.

The Nunavut Business Credit
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Corporation’s headquarters is based up in
Cape Dorset. I’ve never been there, so I’'m
not sure how it’s set up up there. I’ve heard
anecdotal evidence that a lot of people
don’t want to go there because it’s remote
and it’s hard to recruit people.

If you do recruit people, like we already
know there’s a high turnover, but it’s
probably a lack of support for such an
institution as well, in terms of if you don’t
have accountants that you can call on, I’'m
not talking about internal accountants, I’m
talking about private sector accountants,
you don’t have access to lawyers, you
don’t have access to consultants, you don’t
have the land registries or the legal titles,
you don’t have appraisers that you need,
and all kinds of stuff that a lending
institution like NBCC would need.

You would think there might be some
consideration to relocate the Business
Credit Corporation headquarters from Cape
Dorset to say, you know, Igaluit, where
they would have more support from the
private sector, business support services,
well, obviously, the Department of Finance
is here, the headquarters for Economic
Development is here as well, and there’s
easier access for people coming in from
other communities, from Ottawa, the
lawyers, people from Rankin Inlet that
could help out. Is that something that
should be considered as well? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Peterson. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Auditors try to stay really clear of policy
issues, | will go so far as to say that I think
that the location of a corporation like this,
there needs to be an assessment done of the
skills and competencies that are required to
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do these jobs well, and does the location
which is being proposed afford you that
group of people and is it easy to get?

When we look at this corporation, the
turnover is fast and certainly problematic,
and | would believe is probably one of the
major contributing factors as to why the
corporation is in the situation that we are
describing today.

So those issues all have to be looked at, |
think, seriously, in addition to the whole
issue of the corporate structure and to say,
is this the best place for this corporation to
be located. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Maybe
I can ask it in a different way. Based on,
again, that recommendation that you made
to recentralize the financial functions
within the government, and we’ll assume
that meant Crown corporations as well, in
your view, would the Nunavut Business
Credit Corporation be the prime candidate
that you were looking at when you made
that recommendation? Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
When we made that recommendation about
the financial jobs that was really about the
financial function within the government
itself, I think that maybe some of the
Crown corporations but I think it was
largely the government departments. We
were very concerned about the oversight,
the training, and the support that could be
provided to people when there were very
small numbers of people scattered
throughout the territory.

Obviously, this is somewhat different
because it is a separate unit in and of itself,
the corporation. | would think that the same
challenges apply when you have a very
small unit that does need people that are
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highly skilled to perform some of the
functions. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser.
Another question | have, in your report...
or | guess I’ll save that one for the next
question. I’m trying to keep track of how
things came up here in asking my
questions.

It was pointed out by my colleague in his
questions earlier that the corporation,
they’re saying it didn’t have any policies,
or procedures, or didn’t follow anything.
You made it clear that there was some that
was passed on and then it was just all of a
sudden when the comptroller left and the
new CEOQ was there. Did your officials ask
the CEO, “Do you have policies and
procedures on place that you follow?” And
if so, what kind of response did you get
from that individual? Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Ms. Charron.
Chairman: Ms. Charron, go ahead, please.

Ms. Charron: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Yes, we did ask this question and the
answer we got was that there were no
procedures in place. And, in one specific
case, as we’ve mentioned in the report, for
loans, foreclosure procedures did not exist
because it wasn’t the practice at NBCC to
foreclose the loans. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Charron.
Maybe the practice was not even collecting
on it. When | asked that, and | know you
pointed out in your report that there are
some that really contravene the three-year
time period stipulated in the Act, | believe,
that they can only make interest payments.

When that question was asked to the CEO,
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was that the response, “It’s not our policy
to foreclose on people.” Is that the response
you got from the officials? Ms. Charron.
Sorry about that. Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: I’m not sure, Mr. Chairman,
that we would have gone into the rationale
about why all of these things were
happening. When we do our audits, we
don’t always necessarily look for
motivations. If people provide
explanations, we will indicate that, but this,
I suspect, was, as we say in many others,
probably a lack of knowledge of the Act
itself, even things like interest rates were
not being charged properly.

So | suspect it was just simply that people
didn’t know, or maybe weren’t following
those conditions as rigorously as they
should have. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. | guess
the other one | noticed earlier is that in
your report, and | know my good friend
that usually sits right across from me is
fairly quick to point out, and I will quote it,
“In the context of this report, the
‘Government’s Response’ required the
direct involvement of the corporation, and
Departments of Economic Development
and Transportation and Finance among
others. Therefore, it does not mean a
response on behalf of duly elected officials
of the Government of Nunavut.”

As far as | can remember, | think that’s the
first time 1’ve ever seen that comment in
any of your reports. So I’m just wondering
if you can clarify what you mean by this
statement and indicate exactly who
prepared, approved and submitted the GN’s
responses to your recommendations that
were published in your report to the
Legislative Assembly. Ms. Fraser.
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Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The responses were prepared by
government officials, bureaucrats. What
this report is indicating is it is a concern by
the government that the responses that had
been given had not actually been presented
and approved by Cabinet. So there was the
concern by the officials that they wanted
that to be clear and that’s why the text is in
there. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. | know
you had presented a number of reports to
the Legislative Assembly since 1999, and
I’m just wondering if you can explain how
the preparation, approval, and submission
of the government responses to your
recommendations in this report differ from
the process used in the previous years. Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
You would really have to ask government
on how they do this. We provide them with
the draft of the report and ask them to give
us a response. The procedures and the
process that they have to use to do it, we’re
not involved in that.

So this is, as you mentioned, different, and
this is the first time that we have indicated
this and that was because of the concerns
expressed on the part of government
officials. So that question would be better
directed to them. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. The
questions are piling up. | guess in that, you
had indicated you had provided them with
a draft report. Can you give us an
indication of when you provided the
government with the draft report? Ms.
Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: No, because | was here in
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October. I would say probably October 22,
around the third week of October, because
we had a meeting with the board of NBCC
to present the findings to them, and then we
presented a draft to government at the same
time. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. | just
want to get it really clear; you said you
gave a draft to the government. So was it
given to the minister, or was it given to the
departmental officials? Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. In
all of our work, we always deal with
bureaucrats, and so the draft of the report
was given to bureaucrats.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Then it
would be fair to assume that, as you had
indicated here, the copy of the draft report
was provided at that time to the chair, |
would assume, Chair of the NBCC Board,
the Deputy Minister of Economic
Development and Transportation, and the
Deputy Minister of Finance.

Because this is among others, I’m just
wondering if there were any other officials
that were provided copies of that report at
that time. Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We were just trying to clarify all of this.
The chair of the board received extracts of
the report, not the whole report,
recommendations, and we believe, and the
overview. The acting CEO at the time
received a full copy of the report.

And, | would just clarify that there was a
meeting previous to that, or a phone
conversation previously on October 17,
when certain deputy ministers were advised
of the findings of the report. | don’t believe
they were given the copy then, they were
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given a copy when we came on October 22.
I think that’s correct.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. | think
you said earlier, in there it says
“...involvement of the corporation, the
Departments of Economic Development
and Transportation and Finance among
others.” | just want to have it very clear for
the record and say exactly which deputies
were provided copies of the report at that
time. Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We gave a draft of the report to the Deputy
Ministers of Economic Development and
Transportation and Finance. They may
have, | believe, among others here, may
refer to the fact that in preparing the
response, they may have had to consult
with other people within government, but
we did not provide draft copies to anyone
else. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: I’m used to putting my hand
up. Thank you, Ms. Fraser. Have there
been any changes in your version of the
report from the draft report to the final
report that you tabled? Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
am sure that there have been. At the same
time that we provide a draft document, we
also began what we call a clearance or a
validation process. So we go through a
process, for example, what we call a third
party clearance. So anyone who is
mentioned or referred to in the report is
informed of the report and is shown the
sections that refer to them.

So we contacted and met with former CEO,
the former loans officer, the IT services,
the computer people who ...(interruption)...
extensive, a lot of activity that went on
from about the third week of October in
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order to do all that, and based upon, for
example, the chair of the board, we may
have put in some additional information
and some explanations that they may have
given us that we thought would be relevant
to the thing, and there may have been as
well some correction of facts. And, that is
part of our normal process.

So | can almost guarantee, | don’t know the
extent of all the changes, but I can
guarantee that there were changes that
would have been made to the report
because it was still our very first rough
draft when it was presented.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. When
you provide the draft report, I don’t know
what it looks like but it looks like it has all
the paragraphs like we have in the final
report, or not. Since the draft report, have
any of the findings... | don’t know, like you
said, there might have been some
corrections.

Would it be fair to say that there were no
significant changes in the findings, and |
would assume there were probably no
changes to the recommendations in there
since that time period. Would that be a fair
assumption to make? Ms. Fraser.

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Yes, that would be correct, and if the
Committee wants any sort of assurance, |
mean the denial of opinion remained as a
denial of opinion and this is where they
tried to explain what happened.

So there may have been, as | mentioned,
sort of more information given about why...
I mean | can remember | think one example
would be the chair and his involvement in
day-to-day activities and we put in some of
the reasons that he gave us for that. And,
there may have been other corrections like
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that, or of more context given, and
probably some wording changes, but the
overall message remains the same.

Chairman: Okay, that’s what | figured.
The only other question, | was just looking
at the time here. We’re scheduled to go
until five. I maybe just want to give you a
little bit of an end of the day break to all of
this stuff and just ask you a question in
relation to something that you had
indicated earlier this year.

As you know, the Assembly passed a
formal motion requesting that you
undertake a performance audit of the
financial management practices of the
GN’s Department of Health and Social
Services. As you know, this department has
experienced consistent problems, not so
much unlike what we’re looking at here,
so, hopefully, it’s not just that.

On overspending and other issues, I’m just
wondering, while you are here today with
us, if you can take an opportunity to
provide us with a little bit of an update as
to the status of this audit and any other
ongoing work in Nunavut that you may be
looking at. Ms. Fraser?

Ms. Fraser: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
We are just beginning that audit of
financial management in the Health
Department with very early stages but the
team has begun and is conducting
interviews on that.

Our main focus right now is several of the
financial audits that we are trying to
complete. So for example, as | mentioned
earlier, Housing for March 2006, we will
be completing this week and we have
several others that are underway on the
Government’s Financial Statements as
well. So the team is busy working on that.
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And hopefully, we’ll get that done in due
course. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Fraser. With
that, I would like to recognize the clock. So
we adjourn until nine o’clock tomorrow
morning at the same place. Thank you.

>>Committee adjourned at 17:03
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